BEFORE THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

**STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA, ex-rel.
SER. DAVID ROSENBERGER,**

Appellant/Petitioner Below,

v.

III. Statement of the Case

Appellant was indicted in July, 1995 before the Circuit Court of Putnam County, West Virginia for first degree murder. The Appellant was indicted for allegedly murdering John W. Fallecker in October 1987. James W. Casey was appointed as counsel and Charles Damron as co-counsel for David Rosenberger. The trial was held on this matter before the Honorable Clarence L. Watt in Putnam County, West Virginia. The Appellant was convicted of first degree murder without a recommendation of mercy on November 2, 1995. The essential allegations at trial against Mr. Rosenberger were that he and two of his friends (Kevin Warner and Ernest Templin) found the victim drunk, placed him in a vehicle and drove him to a remote area. The testimony is relatively undisputed that at that point that Kevin Warner and Ernest Templin assaulted the victim and that Warner hit the victim in the head with a tire iron. The victim then jumped or was thrown over a bridge and fell to the creek bed and drown. It was how this drowning took place that was the subject of Rosenberger and Templin's separate trials. It is interesting to note that Mr. Templin was acquitted in his trial and amazingly so, Mr. Warner was given immunity to testify although it was undisputed that he was the individual who struck the victim in the head with a tire iron.

Counsel for Appellant, James Casey, filed a Motion for New Trial. The motion was considered and refused on May 30, 1996 and the Appellant was sentenced to life in prison. Mr. Casey and Mr. Damron were appointed to represent the Appellant on this appeal which was due in September, 1996. Amazingly so, the Petition for Appeal was not filed until August, 2000, some four (4) years following the original deadline. Mr. Casey was the subject of a Supreme Court ethics opinion (see In Re: James M. Casey, Supreme Court No. 28854 Findings of Fact, Conclusions of

Law Recommendations of Hearing Panel Subcommittee July 2, 2001) in which Mr. Casey was admonished because of his failure to appropriately follow through on this appeal and to represent Mr. Rosenberger.

This appeal was denied consideration on January 9, 2001 by this Court. In the omnibus hearing for Habeas Corpus Relief conducted before the Putnam County Circuit Court on May 12, 2004 testimony established that a plea of second degree murder was offered to the defense counsel prior to Appellant's trial. The testimony by Mr. Casey himself in the habeas corpus proceeding confirmed the same and further confirmed that Mr. Casey advised against accepting the plea offer of second degree murder. On a second offer of the same plea, Mr. Casey represented in the habeas corpus proceeding that he did not advise Mr. Rosenberger to take the deal. He based this upon his belief that he had a good defense going into the trial. At the habeas corpus proceeding there were four (4) witnesses who testified. James Casey, defense counsel for the Appellant, David Rosenberger testified and the two prosecutors testified from the Putnam County Prosecutor's Office who tried the case and handled the matter against the Appellant in the 1995 trial, being Phillip Morrison and Bill Rardin. Also testifying as an expert hired on behalf of the Petitioner, David Rosenberger, was William C. Forbes, former Prosecuting Attorney of Kanawha County, West Virginia with much experience in the area of criminal matters. Although the Appellant did not have another of his experts testify at said omnibus hearing, he was given permission by order of the Court subsequent to this hearing to retain an expert in the forensic field and this expert retained was Dr. Cyril Wecht, J.D. M.D. who is both an attorney and coroner, has both his medical degree and law degree, has served as coroner for Allegheny County, Pennsylvania and has testified in hundreds of forensic matters. His report was tendered to the Court prior to the Court rendering it's decision

denying habeas corpus relief. (See attached).

The defense attorney for David Rosenberger, James Casey in his testimony recounted many errors both by him and by his defense team. These errors by Mr. Casey's own admission brought into question the effectiveness of the assistance of counsel in Mr. Rosenberger's 1995 trial. This testimony by Mr. Casey went relatively un rebutted and was as follows:

1. Failure to retain experts: The defense counsel James Casey, did not retain an expert to review of any of the scientific or autopsy evidence presented in this case. This was crucial in this case as the cause of death was the key issue in this trial. Dr. Irwin Sopher testified on behalf of the prosecution but simply testified as to the notes in the file of another coroner who performed the autopsy on the deceased. It was disputed whether, in fact, the victim died from the blow to the head by the tire iron or by the drowning in the creek below the bridge from which the victim fell. As it blatantly obvious from this, it was crucial that the defense have an expert as to the cause of death or, at least, to rebut Dr. Sopher (or at least to properly advise Mr. Rosenberger). In the original trial of this matter, the testimony by Dr. Sopher was that the victim suffered from an extreme blow to the head and was extremely intoxicated at the time the alleged crime took place and perhaps as a result suffered a death by drowning. Since the immunized witness, Kevin Warner was undisputedly the person who hit the victim in the head and this was not a felony/murder case the cause of death was crucial to the defense of David Rosenberger. Defense counsel did not retain such an expert to review any scientific evidence and/or the autopsy report and apparently did not even interview the coroner who actually performed the autopsy, as all the testimony at the trial went in through Dr. Sopher who was not even the individual who performed the autopsy.

2. Defense counsel did not retain an expert to present or investigate the defense of

diminished capacity: The defense counsel for Mr. Rosenberger clearly stated that he knew that the Defendant suffered from prior alcohol and drug abuse problems and that the Defendant claimed to be drunk on the night of this event. *State vs. Keaton*, 272 S.E.2d 817 (166 W. Va. 77, Sup. Ct. 1988) provides a defense to one charged with first degree murder if the Appellant was too drunk to be capable of deliberating or premeditating. Based upon the defense counsel James Casey's own statements, he did not even consider said defense nor retain an expert to review or analyze the Defendant for purposes of advancing such a defense forward. (See pages 57-58 omnibus hearing transcript).

3. Defense counsel failed to have his client psychologically analyzed: In a first degree murder case, psychological defense must be considered and analyzed. It appears from a review of the defense counsel's file that no such analysis was ever conducted nor was Appellant ever psychologically evaluated. In light of the Appellant's previous drug and alcohol problems it was imperative to do so in this case.

4. The Appellant's counsel did not subpoena a key witness in the case: Mr. Templin, who was one of the alleged assaulters of the victim was not subpoenaed to trial. According to the file in this matter, the defense counsel never interviewed Mr. Templin. Since the Appellant, Mr. Rosenberger claimed that one of his defenses was that Ernest Templin was in the creek bed at the time that the victim was drowned, it was imperative to have Mr. Templin at the trial. This was not even considered by the defense counsel.

5. The defense counsel did not properly investigate or prepare the case: During Mr. Casey's testimony before the Putnam County Circuit Court Judge on May 12, 2004, (habeas corpus omnibus hearing) which lead to the Circuit Court's decision to deny habeas corpus relief, Mr. Casey

testified that at or about the time preparation for this trial and the trial was taking place, the defense counsel James Casey was very busy at the Legislature, was running a solo practice and had a son who was grievously ill and had been to the Children's Hospital in Columbus on several occasions. In fact, on page 20 the transcript at said habeas corpus omnibus hearing, Mr. Casey was asked because of his schedule and all the other matters going on in his life whether in retrospect he should not have taken the case and his answer was "probably was not a wise decision." In fact, Mr. Casey testified on page 21 and thereafter that another attorney, Charlie Damron was appointed as his co-counsel. It was the testimony of Mr. Casey that Mr. Damron had no experience in such cases and that he had been appointed because Judge Watt was trying to help him get back on his feet after a difficult time in his life. Mr. Casey testified that he left the work up of the case to Mr. Damron and Mr. Casey was handed the file at trial time and simply went and tried the case based upon the file and the work up done by Mr. Damron. Mr. Casey himself testified on page 23 of the habeas corpus omnibus hearing transcript that it was questionable whether Mr. Damron had the experience to work up and try a case such as the one presented against the Appellant. In fact, Mr. Casey himself testified that Mr. Damron was simply not competent to handle such affairs and had no experience in such matters. (See pages 23-24 of Habeas Corpus Omnibus transcript). Mr. Casey further testified on page 26 of the transcript of the Omnibus hearing that Mr. Damron misrepresented the status of the file of the case and Mr. Casey assumed certain things had been done that were not done. As a result, Mr. Casey himself testified on page 26 of the transcript that there was an improper work up of the case. On page 28 of the transcript, Mr. Casey said that if he had it to do over and he was working up the case that several of the items that were missed would have been worked up differently. (See page 30 of the Omnibus transcript). Ironically, at trial, Mr. Damron had nothing or very little to do,

but just sit at the counsel table.

Mr. Casey acknowledges on page 35 of the Omnibus transcript that it could be that just somebody dropped the ball and failed to obtain an expert and further that the cause of death in the case was crucial. Mr. Casey acknowledged the failure of his defense team in pages 36 and 37 of the Omnibus transcript and admitted that the work up by an expert on behalf of the defense very well could have provided "reasonable doubt."

Mr. Casey further testifies on page 43 of the transcript of the omnibus hearing of the defenses failure to subpoena a key witness being Ernest Templin. In fact, Mr. Casey testified on page 46 of the transcript that the strategy of having an investigator testify as to a telephone conversation with Mr. Templin hurt them in front of a jury because the jury could infer that they had access and chose not to call Mr. Templin to trial. Mr. Casey further testified on page 48 and thereafter in the transcript of his failure to properly appeal the case. The same is evidenced by the fact that during this period of time Mr. Casey was simply too consumed with his other affairs and life to properly handle this case which resulted in a finding by the State Bar of the extraordinary circumstances that Mr. Casey was suffering from and Mr. Casey was admonished for failure to file the appeal in the proper time frame.

Most importantly on page 53 of the transcript of the omnibus hearing, Mr. Casey admits that because of the improper work up of the case by himself and Mr. Damron when he consulted with his client about the second degree murder plea offer, he was not in a posture "to be fully armed to even properly advise the client."

On page 58 of the transcript Mr. Casey makes it clear that he and Mr. Damron did not even look into the defense or hiring of an expert as to diminished capacity although the same may have

been warranted. On page 62 of the transcript the ultimate question was asked of Mr. Casey and that question was whether in his opinion was Mr. Rosenberger was denied his constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel. Mr. Casey ultimately answered that "he didn't know but if he were to have that responsibility again, the case would be handled differently."

All of the above lead to the inescapable conclusion that the Appellant David Rosenberger did not receive effective assistance of counsel. The Appellant and his counsel begs this Court to read the entire transcript of the omnibus hearing that occurred on May 12, 2004 along with the opinion of Dr. Cyril Wecht (see attached as Exhibit "A") which primarily went undisputed and leads to the only conclusion that the Appellant was not treated fairly and suffered from ineffective assistance of counsel during this trial.

VI. Discussion of Law As To Ineffective Assistance of Counsel

When reviewing an ineffective assistance of counsel claim the Courts apply an objective standard to determine if, in light of all of the circumstances, the identified acts or omissions were outside the broad range of professionally competent assistance while at the same time refrain from engaging in hindsight or second guessing of trial counsel's strategic decisions. Syl. Pt. 4 *State ex rel Vanatter vs. Warden*, 207 W. VA. 11, 528 S.E.2d 207 (1999); *State vs. Miller*, 194 W. Va. 3, 459 S.E.2d 114, 1995. Therefore the Court should consider whether a reasonable lawyer would have acted under the circumstances defense counsel acted in the case.

Furthermore, this Court has in the past followed *Strickland vs. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 104 Sup. Ct. 2052 (1984) a two prong test which establishes and governs ineffective assistance of counsel claims. This test is as follows:

(1) Counsel's performance was deficient under an objective standard of reasonableness and (2) there is reasonable probability that but for counsel's unprofessional errors the result of the proceedings would have been different.

The conduct and performance of Mr. Rosenberger's counsel in his criminal case establishes that said defense team acted completely outside the scope of what was reasonable under an objective standard for counsel. This was basically admitted to by the counsel, Mr. Casey. We could not hear from Mr. Damron as he is now deceased, but it is clear based upon Mr. Casey's statements, which were clearly not in his best interest, that Mr. Damron's work on the case rose to incompetency.

What the evidence presented at the habeas corpus omnibus hearing on the 12th day of May, 2004, makes clear is that pursuant to Stickland vs. Washington standard that Mr. Rosenberger received ineffective assistance of counsel. This was established by Mr. Rosenberger's expert called to testify in this matter being one William Forbes, a former prosecuting attorney. Mr. Forbes reviewed the transcript of the trial of this matter and the deposition transcript of Mr. Casey and concluded that there were at least two items that resulted in ineffective assistance of counsel. One, Mr. Forbes testifies on pages 110 through 112 of the omnibus hearing transcript about the crucial issue in this case as to the cause of death, whether it be by a blow to the head or by drowning. Mr. Forbes testified that "the first thing you had to do in defending this case was to hire an expert." Mr. Forbes testified that this would be helpful in the defense of this case as to being able to evaluate the cause of death and the likelihood that the victim was dead before hitting the water. According to Mr. Forbes there was also testimony by several witnesses in the trial that could have been effectively potentially rebutted by expert

witnesses. An example of would be one of the witnesses who testified about the statements made by Mr. Rosenberger about the victim's eyes "bulging out" at the time of his death. This is something that Mr. Forbes stated an expert may have been able to appropriately rebut. Mr. Forbes testified that the failure to obtain said experts fell below the standard of a reasonably effective counsel in the State of West Virginia. (See page 112 of the habeas transcript).

Mr. Forbes testified that Mr. Damron clearly was not competent to handle a case such as this and his investigation fell below the standard of care for a reasonably competent attorney in West Virginia. This coupled with the fact that Mr. Casey has testified that he depended upon Mr. Damron's work up leads to the inescapable conclusion that Mr. Rosenberger received ineffective assistance of counsel. Mr. Forbes after recounting an entire review of the file and the defense counsel's various and sundry failures to properly work up the case as identified above testified that he believed in his opinion that the Defendant was ineffectively assisted by counsel based upon the Strickland vs. Washington standard utilized in West Virginia.

What can be concluded from this is that obviously in retrospect, had the defense counsel properly evaluated this case and properly advised the Defendant, the Defendant would most likely have accepted the plea. It is uncontroverted and un rebutted that the defense counsel had not properly worked up the case and was not in a posture to properly advise the Defendant.

The next pertinent question for the Court in analyzing ineffective assistance is how can we know that the hiring of experts and the proper work up of the case would have made a difference. Attached to this appeal brief and submitted into the record of the court in the habeas corpus proceeding is an opinion by Cyril Wecht, J.D. M.D. (an expert obtained by Mr. Rosenberger's habeas counsel), that clearly established that the cause of death of the victim in his

opinion was other than drowning. This is an expert that would have rebutted Dr. Sopher and the cause of death if he would had been hired prior to trial. In fact, the question and answer in page 8 of his report was, "what was the immediate cause of death" and his answer was "the presence of mud in the airway and the upper gastrointestinal tract suggesting a gasping attempt. A terminal event that could occur as a reflex in dying or nearly dead individual. While drowning could not have been the terminal event, the main post mortem finding are the head injuries superimposed or diminished consciousness from intoxication." Cyril Wecht further found in his opinion that the attorneys representing Mr. Rosenberger did not provide an adequate representation of Mr. Rosenberger.

Dr. Wecht further found that Appellant's sentence was grave when there was a plea offer and had been denied the opportunity due to ineptness of counsel. Dr. Wecht further goes on to testify as stated in his opinion that the victim died from "cranial injuries." All of the above clearly establishes, pursuant to the West Virginia law as to ineffective assistance of counsel, that based upon an objective standard Mr. Rosenberger did not receive effective assistance of counsel and there is a reasonable probability that but for counsel's errors the result would have been different at trial and therefore his case should be reversed and habeas relief should have been granted. The proof is in the pudding. If Mr. Rosenberger's counsel for the habeas corpus proceeding found such an expert Mr. Rosenberger's trial counsel could have also. Dr. Wecht, a noted expert, gave an opinion that most likely would have resulted in the acquittal of Mr. Rosenberger. At least it would have effected plea negotiations.

V. Argument - Cumulative Error

This Supreme Court in State vs. Smith, 193 S.E.2d 550 (W. Va. 1992) provides in Syl. Pt. 5 that the cumulative error rule will not be applied unless the cumulative effect of numerous errors committed during the trial prevented the Defendant from receiving a fair trial. The Appellant declares that the cumulative error doctrine enunciated in Smith and applied in State vs. Wilson, 202 S.E.2d 828 (W. Va. 1974) mandates reversal of his conviction, and that he is being held contrary to law. The Appellant is first to acknowledge that all of the errors that will be stated below were previously appealed however, it is there cumulative effect along with the ineffective assistance that mandates a new trial and habeas relief. These cumulative errors are as follows:

- a. **The trial court committed reversible error when it failed to grant a mistrial after the prosecuting attorney repeatedly and impermissibly vouched for and bolstered the testimony of the State's witnesses.**

The West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals has previously addressed the role of the prosecuting attorney in criminal cases:

The prosecuting attorney occupies a quasi-judicial position in the trial of a criminal case. In keeping with his position, he is required to avoid the role of a partisan, eager to convict, and must deal fairly with the accused as well as the other participants in the trial. It is the prosecutor's duty to set a tone of fairness and impartiality, and while he may and should vigorously pursue the State's case, in so doing he must not abandon the quasi-judicial role with which he is cloaked under the law.

State v. Critzer, 280 S.E. 2d 288 (1981), quoting Syl. Pt. 3, State v. Boyd, 233 S.E. 2d 710 (1977).

Furthermore, the Supreme Court of Appeals has stated that it is improper for a prosecutor to

assert his personal opinions. State v. Moore, 409 S.E. 2d 490 (1990). Also, it is improper for the prosecution to call the defense witnesses liars. United States v. Cooper, 827 F.2d 991, 995 (4th Cir. 1987). The Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals has defined vouching, and has found it to be an improper bolstering of a witness.

Vouching occurs when a prosecutor indicates a personal belief in the credibility or honesty of a witness; bolstering is an implication by the government that the testimony of a witness is corroborated by evidence known to the government but not known to the jury. United States v. Sanchez, 118 F.3d 192 (4th Cir. 1997) citing United States v. Lewis, 10 F.3d 1086, 1089 (4th Cir. 1993)

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