NO. 34700

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

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

Excerpts from the Omnibus Hearing demonstrate the speculative nature of this claim:

- Q: And if you have put [Templin] on the stand, *he could have* done one of two things, *theoretically, or you would presume he would have done one of two things*. That's the experience – One was, he'd blame somebody besides himself. That's a fair statement, right?
- A: Right.
- Q: I mean, *could be*, wouldn't be unusual if he blamed your client?
- A: No, that's how things normally happen.
- Q: And then in arguing reasonable doubt you have two people there that *could just* have easily been the person who committed the drowning, right?

A: If the drowning was the cause of death, you have, you would have reasonable doubt as to who the perp was.

Q: Okay. And you didn't have that, because he wasn't there.

A: Right.

Q: Okay. *Or he could have* got on the stand and taken the Fifth [Amendment] right?

A: Or he could have got on the stand and admitted it, but that's –

(OH at 43-44; emphasis added.)

Defense counsel testified that the decision not to call Mr. Templin was strategic:

Q: And the people that worked up your case for you or you or whoever, didn't have Mr. Templin available to testify. And if I recall what you've told me before, it is that what *you intended to do as one of your defenses* was when you couldn't locate Mr. Templin, was to simply say, where is he at, *and try to blame the empty chair*, right?

A: *Right.*

Q: But that somewhat backfired on you, didn't it?

A: I think it did.

Q: Okay, how'd that backfire?

A: Well, because the investigator was called as a witness and he testified that he had talked to Ernie on the phone shortly before the trial and I that the jury inferred from that we had access to him and the State didn't. We didn't bring him up, so therefore, he would hurt our case.

(OH 46-47; ED 46-48.)

Q: And you made a decision not, even after you knew where Mr. Templeton, was, or Templin, excuse me, where your investigator talked to him. Did you even consider getting Mr. Templin back here?

A: I didn't think that we, we didn't really make a conscious decision, one way or another, we just kind of figured he'd come back and point the finger at our client.

Q: Any you didn't want that.

A: We didn't want it. Particularly in view if the State's giving one guy immunity, then give two guy immunity, why load their gun?

(OH 78-79.)

To prevail, the Appellant must prove that defense counsel adopted a strategy that no reasonable attorney would have chosen. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 688. As the above text demonstrates, defense counsel chose not to subpoena Templin and to adopt the "empty chair" defense. In hindsight, this strategy may not have yielded the result defense counsel had hoped for, but it was a reasonable. *Id.* at 689 (judicial scrutiny of counsel's performance is deferential, and must avoid the distorting effects of hindsight). Sometimes an empty chair is more eloquent than a witness who is willing to point the finger of guilt at your client.

4. Failure to Conduct a Proper Investigation.

As the allegations contained in this claim center around Mr. Dameron's performance having nothing to do with Mr. Casey, a review of Mr. Casey's comments about Mr. Dameron and the quality of his work is illuminating.

Upon his appointment, Mr. Dameron served the State with a motion for discovery and Inspection including requests for any statements by the Appellant, a list of the State's witnesses, and copies of their statements. (TR 23-29.) He also requested a copy of the Grand Jury transcript. (TR 30.)

In his deposition Mr. Casey testified that he felt “confident” upon receiving the trial notebook from Mr. Dameron, and that he “knew what the witnesses would say.” He testified that Mr. Dameron had done a “fairly good job” preparing the trial notebook. (OH at 70.) Defense private investigator Frank McCallister contacted “some if not all, the witnesses that we could get to and got statements from them.” In terms of facts, Mr. Casey testified that he had a “pretty good idea where we were going.” (ED 12-13; OH at 69.) Neither he nor Mr. Dameron considered hiring an expert as to the cause of death because Kevin Warner admitted hitting the victim with a tire iron, and the autopsy report fixed the cause of death at drowning and cranial fracture. (ED at 31.)

Although Mr. Casey claimed he was overworked at the time the trial court appointed him, he tried four murder cases during this same time period, leading to three acquittals. (OH at 68.)

When asked how he felt prior to trying the case, Mr. Casey testified:

I didn't feel real bad, I thought that, you know, *we were in fairly good shape*, in terms of what we thought the State was gonna put on and what our defense was gonna be.

(OH at 73; emphasis added.)

Later, Mr. Casey testified:

Q: Mr. Casey, going into this trial with Mr. Rosenberger, did you, based on your preparation for it, did you think you knew the strengths and weaknesses of that case?

A: I think I had a understanding of what the strengths of the State's case was, with, I felt fairly good going into the trial. We had a pretty good defense, we had a pretty good, I thought, fairly good defense going in.

(OH at 97.)

Throughout his testimony, Mr. Casey claimed that both he and Mr. Dameron could have done a better job defending the Appellant. The Appellant points to this as evidence of constitutional

ineffectiveness. But every attorney who loses a case is subject to second-guessing, and, more importantly, may second-guess themselves. A simple admission by counsel that they could have done a better job falls far short of the burden imposed by *Strickland*. To prevail, the Appellant must prove that no counsel would have conducted themselves in the same fashion as defense counsel. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 688-89. He has failed to do so.

B. CUMULATIVE ERROR.

“Cumulative error analysis applies when there are two or more actual errors; it does not apply to the cumulative effect on non-errors.” *United States v. Nichols*, 169 F.3d 1255, 1269 (10th Cir. 1999), *cert. denied*, 528 U.S. 934 (1999). This Court has applied the doctrine to direct appeals. Syl. Pt. 5, *State v. Smith*, 156 W. Va. 385, 193 S.E.2d 550 (1972) (cumulative error occurs where the trial court record shows that the cumulative effect of harmless errors prevent the defendant from receiving a fair trial); *State v. Brown*, 210 W. Va. 14, 29, 552 S.E.2d 404, 419 (2001). It has also applied it to civil cases. See *Tennant v. Marion Health Care Foundation, Inc.*, 194 W. Va. 97, 118, 459 S.E.2d 374, 395 (1995). This Court has held that this doctrine should be applied sparingly.¹⁴ (*Id.*)

These rulings do not apply to the case at bar. This Court has repeatedly held, “A habeas corpus proceeding is not a substitute for a writ of error in that ordinary trial error not involving constitutional violations will not be reviewed.” Syl. Pt. 4, *State ex. rel. McMannis v. Mohn*, *supra*. See also *State ex. rel. Phillips v. Legursky*, 187 W. Va. 607, 608, 420 S.E.2d 743, 744 (1992).

There is no evidence of constitutional error in the record; indeed, there is no evidence of ordinary trial court error. The Appellant is seeking a second opportunity to re-litigate claims rejected

¹⁴And it has. Of the 45 civil and criminal cases the Appellee found raising this issue, only two were reversed. See *State v. Schermerhorn*, 211 W. Va. 376, 381, 566 S.E.2d 263, 268 (2002); *State v. Smith*, *supra*.

by the lower court in his motion for a new trial and this Court on direct appeal. This Court need not go over the same ground again.

1. **The Prosecutor Did Not Improperly Vouch the Record.**

A writ of habeas corpus will not issue upon a claim of prosecutorial misconduct unless the Appellant proves that the prosecutor's conduct, "so infected the trial with unfairness as to make the resulting conviction a denial of due process." *Darden v. Wainright*, 477 U.S. 168, 181 (1986). In determining whether such prejudice exists this Court should examine the totality of the circumstances, including: "(1) the severity of the prosecutor's conduct; (2) what steps, if any, the trial court may have taken to remedy any prejudice; and (3) whether the conviction was certain absent the prejudicial conduct." *Bentley v. Scully*, 41 F.3d 811, 824-825 (2d Cir. 1994).

A prosecutor can address in closing argument a witness's demeanor, motive for testifying, and believability provided such remarks are based on the evidence or fair inferences drawn from it, and are not based on the prosecutor's personal beliefs. *Commonwealth v. Freeman*, 712 N.E.2d 1135 (Mass. 1999). A prosecutor may not vouch for the testimony of a witness by expressing a personal belief in the credibility of the witness or indicating that he has knowledge independent of the evidence before the jury. *Commonwealth v. Wilson*, 693 N.E.2d 158 (Mass. 1998).

After a brief discussion of the law, the Appellant lists sixteen examples of allegedly improper prosecutorial vouching. He makes no effort to connect the law to the facts. His examples are a mere laundry list, devoid of explanation. This Court has stated, "we liberally construe briefs in determining issues presented for review, issues which are mentioned only in passing but are not supported by pertinent authority are not considered." *State v. LaRock*, 196 W. Va. 294, 302, 470 S.E.2d 613, 621 (1996) (citation omitted.)

In the case at bar the Appellant has utterly failed to point out what portions of the numerous quotations constitute improper vouching, thus leaving this Court and opposing counsel with the job of sniffing out these allegedly improper quotes. This is not the Court's job.

Even if this Court were to address the substance of Appellant's claim, the outcome would be no different. The examples cited by the Appellant do not exhibit improper vouching. Counsel for the State's summation was solidly rooted in the record. His statements were not based upon his personal opinions, but on the evidence adduced at trial.

2. Dr. Sopher's Testimony.

Appellant next claims that the trial court had an affirmative obligation to instruct the jury to ignore Dr. Sopher's testimony as inherently unreliable and biased. There is no legal basis for this claim. Dr. Sopher testified and was subject to cross-examination. The Appellant does not claim that the trial court improperly limited the scope of cross. Although he may not have liked the answers, that is not a reason to strike the testimony.¹⁵

3. Venue.

Appellant next claims that the State failed to establish venue. A review of the record proves him wrong. Trooper Charles Martin identified the location of the body as Putnam County, West Virginia:

Q: And do you recall becoming involved in the investigation of the death of a man that was later identified as John William Fallecker?

A: I am

¹⁵Appellant points to Judge Watt's post-verdict statements regarding Dr. Sopher's testimony. These comments were not made during trial. Nor do they provide a valid reason for striking Dr. Sopher's testimony. Witness credibility is not the province of the trial court: it is the jury's job to determine who is credible, and how much weight to afford each witness.

Q: And at some point in time did you go to a scene where there was a body located?

A: I did.

Q: Is that the same body that was later identified as John Fallecker?

A: That's correct.

Q: Where was that?

A: In Putnam County approximately six miles out from 60 on a side road in a creek. I refer to it as Trace Creek, or Trace Fork, or Mud River.

(TT 253.)

4. Premeditation.

The Appellant alleges that the Court committed error when it did not grant a motion for a directed verdict on the basis of insufficient evidence to support the conviction. The Appellant would have this Court believe that all of the witnesses who testified provided no competent evidence from which a reasonable jury could find premeditation. Kevin Warner testified that he, the Appellant, and Mr. Templin did not pick up the victim to take him home; instead, they were taking him to a secluded spot where they could "whip his ass." (TT 9, 192.) This statement clearly shows that the participants knew what they were going to do with the victim. Further, the Appellant himself on cross-examination testified that they were going to teach him [the victim] a lesson. That's what I thought the purpose was." Upon further inquiry the Appellant was asked, "You were going along with that?" The Appellant's response to this inquiry was, "Yes. sir I was." (TT. 462.)

The Appellant's allegation that there was no competent evidence presented that would justify the verdict is facially incorrect. A review of the complete trial in this matter shows that numerous witnesses, including the Appellant, gave competent testimony that the jury could rely on to make its

determination. This Court in Syl. Pt.1, *State v. Guthrie*, 194 W. Va. 657, 461 S.E.2d 163 (1995), states, “the relevant inquiry is whether, after viewing the evidence in a light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime proved beyond a reasonable doubt.” The evidence, when viewed in a light most favorable to the prosecution, did allow the trier of fact, being the jury, to make a determination of guilt.

5. Chief Investigator Martin’s Notes.

Appellant’s next claim revolves around Chief Investigator Charles Martin’s missing investigative notes. According to the Appellant, the trial court’s failure to apply the *Osakalumi* test to the missing notes was reversible error. *See State v. Osakalumi*, 194 W. Va. 758, 461 S.E.2d 504 (1995).

Charles R. Martin testified that he was unaware of the location of his handwritten notes; however, he further testified using his official report to assist with his recollection of the events. Sgt. Martin was the lead investigator on this case until he was transferred. Sgt. Martin’s testimony was of firsthand knowledge he had concerning the events and his investigation of the crime.

The Appellee submits that the Appellant has failed to show that the court’s lack of analysis regarding the notes prejudiced the Appellant or denied him a fair trial

6. Kathy Cottrill.

Appellant next alleges that the trial court committed error when it failed to grant the Appellant a new trial on the basis of the State using Kathy Cottrill as a witness. The Appellant alleges “unfair surprise” by the State’s use of Ms. Cottrill. The prosecution had disclosed Ms. Cottrill as a potential witness to the Appellant which put him on notice that she may or may not be called. If the Appellant’s counsel chose not to be prepared for Ms. Cottrill, then that was a tactical

decision. More importantly, Mr. Casey's time sheets reveal that on September 11, 1995, he reviewed Ms. Cottrill's pretrial statement. (Supp. R, Ex. B.)

The Appellee submits that the Appellant has failed to show that they were unaware of Ms. Cottrill as a potential witness and therefore "surprised" by her appearance.

7. Guthrie Instruction.

Appellant next claims that the trial court improperly instructed the jury on the issues of premeditation and deliberation pursuant to *State v. Guthrie, supra*. The instruction, State's No. 2, as given was more help to the Appellant than harm. The Court in *Guthrie* expanded the meaning of deliberate and premeditate to mean more than forming the intent at the immediate time of the killing. The Court in *Guthrie*, however, specifically states, "We leave intact the *Clifford* rule as amplified by *Hatfield*." Further stating, "[w]hat came about as a mere suggestion in *Hatfield*, we now approve as a proper instruction" *Guthrie, supra*.

Further this Court has stated in Syl. Pt. 8 *State v. Walls*, 170 W. Va. 419, 294 S.E.2d 272 (1982), "[w]hen instructions are read as a whole and adequately advise the jury of all necessary elements for their consideration, the fact that a single instruction is incomplete or lacks a particular element will not constitute grounds for disturbing a jury verdict." When the instructions given are reviewed as a whole, they adequately advise the jury of all necessary elements needed for their consideration.

The Appellee submits that the Appellant has failed to show that the instruction as given was prejudicial to the Appellant and that the jury was not fully informed as to the elements necessary for their consideration. Further, the Appellee submits that any error as a result of State's Instruction 2 was harmless.

V.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the judgment of the Circuit Court of Putnam County should be affirmed by this Honorable Court.